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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS  

 
 

DONALD DUVERGLAS,               ) 
                                ) 
     Petitioner,                ) 
                                ) 
vs.                             )   Case No. 07-0989 
                                ) 
CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE,        ) 
                                ) 
     Respondent.                ) 
________________________________) 
 
 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 
 

Pursuant to notice, a formal hearing was held in this case 

on December 11, 2007 and April 21, 2008, by video teleconference 

with connecting sites in Lauderdale Lakes and Tallahassee, 

Florida, before Errol H. Powell, a designated Administrative Law 

Judge of the Division of Administrative Hearings. 

APPEARANCES

For Petitioner:  Jonel Lemy, Esquire 
                 The Law Offices of Jonel Lemy, P.A. 
                 1061 West Oakland Park Boulevard, 
                   Suite 106 
                 Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33311 

 
For Respondent:  Eugene K. Pettis, Esquire 
                 Haliczer, Pettis, & Schwamm, P.A. 
                 One Financial Plaza 
                 100 Southeast Third Avenue, Seventh Floor 
                 Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33394 

 
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The issue for determination is whether Respondent 

discriminated against Petitioner on the basis of national origin 



and retaliated against Petitioner in violation of the Florida 

Civil Rights Act of 1992, as amended. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Donald Duverglas filed a Charge of Discrimination with the 

Broward County Civil Rights Division and U.S. Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (EEOC) against the City of Fort 

Lauderdale (City) on July 24, 2006, alleging that the City 

discriminated against him on the basis of national origin 

(Haitian) and retaliation in violation of the Florida Civil 

Rights Act of 1992, as amended.  Broward County Civil Rights 

Division waived investigation of the charge.  The matter was 

investigated by the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

(FCHR).  On January 19, 2007, the FCHR issued a Determination of 

No Cause and a Notice of Determination of No Cause.  

Mr. Duverglas timely filed a Petition for Relief with the FCHR 

against the City.  On February 27, 2007, the FCHR referred this 

matter to the Division of Administrative Hearings. 

Initially, the City made a request for this matter to 

proceed as a summary hearing in its response to the Initial 

Order.  The undersigned directed the City to file its request in 

accordance with Section 120.574, Florida Statutes (2006).  

Subsequently, the City complied with the directive and filed a 

motion for summary final hearing, which was denied.  After  
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several continuances for various reasons, the final hearing was 

held. 

At hearing, to Mr. Duverglas testified on his own behalf, 

presented the testimony of four witnesses, and entered three 

exhibits (Petitioner's Exhibits numbered 2, 19, and 23) into 

evidence.1  The City presented the testimony of four witnesses 

and entered 39 exhibits (Respondent's Exhibits numbered 2, 4, 5, 

6, 7, 8, 12, 14, 15, 16, 19, 20, 26, 27, 28, 30, 33, 34, 35, 36, 

37, 39, 40, 44, 45, 46, 50, 51, 52, 59, 62, 65, 68, 69, 70, 73, 

74, 80, and 82) into evidence. 

A transcript of the hearing was ordered.  At the request of 

the parties, the time for filing post-hearing submissions was 

set for more than ten days following the filing of the 

transcript.  The Transcript, consisting of two volumes, was 

filed on June 23 and July 10, 2008.2  The City timely filed its 

post-hearing submission.  Mr. Duverglas did not file his post-

hearing submission until October 10, 2008, which was untimely, 

but the City did not object to Mr. Duverglas’ untimely post-

hearing submission.  In light of the lack of any objection from 

the City, Mr. Duverglas’ post-hearing submission is accepted and 

is considered timely filed.  The parties’ post-hearing 

submissions were considered in the preparation of this 

Recommended Order.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

1.  No dispute exists that Mr. Duverglas is a male and 

Black and that his national origin is Haitian.  No dispute 

exists that he is a member of the protected class as it relates 

to discrimination. 

2.  No dispute exists that, at all times material hereto, 

the City was an employer as defined by the Florida Civil Rights 

Act of 1992, as amended. 

3.  Mr. Duverglas began his employment with the City in 

1996 as a Park Ranger.  An inference is drawn and a finding is 

made that Mr. Duverglas wore a uniform type of clothing for his 

position. 

4.  In 2002, some employees complained, among other things, 

that the vehicles that Mr. Duverglas drove and in which he rode 

often were left reeking of urine.  On December 17, 2002, a 

counseling session was held with Mr. Duverglas by his 

supervisor, Kelton Wayns, regarding, among other things, 

Mr. Duverglas’ personal hygiene and cleanliness of vehicles. 

5.  In 2003, a complaint was received by Mr. Wyans 

regarding Mr. Duverglas urinating in a drain on the floor in a 

bathroom, instead of a urinal.  Mr. Wyans investigated the 

complaint, and the investigative report was reviewed by the Park 

Ranger Supervisor and Foreman, Earnest Jones.  Mr. Jones 

concluded that the allegation could not be substantiated, but he 
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did counsel Mr. Duverglas that, as an employee of the City, he 

(Mr. Duverglas) must conduct himself professionally, at all 

times, and that any unsanitary behavior would not be tolerated. 

6.  Performance evaluations of Mr. Duvergals were 

conducted.  The categories for the rating of the evaluations 

were unsatisfactory, marginal, satisfactory, above satisfactory, 

and outstanding.  At the review ending date of April 29, 2001, 

he received a satisfactory rating; and at the review ending 

dates of October 29, 2001, October 27, 2002, and October 27, 

2003, he received an above satisfactory rating. 

7.  In February 2004, due to workforce reductions, 

Mr. Duverglas was bumped and reassigned to the Grounds 

Maintenance Division as an Apprentice Maintenance Worker.  In 

that position, Mr. Duverglas was assigned to a roving-crew of 

three to four workers who picked-up litter in a quadrant of the 

City.  An inference is drawn and a finding is made that he wore 

a uniform type of clothing for his position. 

8.  Also, around November 2004, Mr. Duverglas was hired as 

a part-time Park Ranger.  Any problems, regarding Mr. Duverglas 

in this position, were directly dealt with by Mr. Jones. 

9.  On December 9, 2004, Mr. Duverglas, as a maintenance 

worker, had a problem arriving at work timely.  On December 15, 

2004, he was given a letter of reprimand by his supervisor, John 

Neal, for arriving to work late and for failing to call-in 
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regarding his tardiness.  Additionally, the reprimand indicated 

that future occurrences could result in more severe disciplinary 

action up to and including dismissal. 

10.  In January 2005, Mr. Neal, advised Mr. Duverglas that 

he was spending too much time on his (Mr. Duverglas’) cell 

phone.  At that time, Mr. Duverglas informed Mr. Neal that a co-

worker, L. C. Orr, had made offensive comments about Haitians.  

Mr. Neal had no knowledge of Mr. Orr’s alleged comments before 

being informed of them by Mr. Duverglas. 

11.  Mr. Orr was aware of Mr. Duverglas’ Haitian ancestry.  

However, Mr. Neal was not until he was informed of Mr. Orr’s 

alleged comments. 

12.  After that meeting and also in January 2005, 

Mr. Duvergals made a complaint with the City’s Office of 

Professional Standards (OPS) against Mr. Orr.  Mr. Duverglas 

complained that Mr. Orr had made offensive comments about 

Haitians and that the offensive comments had contributed to a 

hostile work environment. 

13.  After making the complaint with OPS, Mr. Duverglas was 

counseled by Mr. Neal regarding his (Mr. Duverglas’) poor work 

performance.  At that time, Mr. Duverglas informed Mr. Neal that 

he had made a complaint against Mr. Orr with OPS.  Mr. Neal had 

no knowledge of the OPS complaint before being informed of it by 

Mr. Duvergals. 
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14.  Mr. Duvergals also complained to OPS that Mr. Neal had 

retaliated against him when Mr. Neal met with him to counsel him 

about his performance deficiencies after his (Mr. Duverglas’) 

OPS complaint.  Mr. Duverglas informed Mr. Neal, during the 

meeting, that he (Mr. Duverglas) had made a complaint to OPS 

against Mr. Orr regarding Mr. Orr’s derogatory comments about 

Haitians.  Mr. Neal was not aware of Mr. Duverglas’ complaint 

against Mr. Orr until Mr. Duverglas informed him (Mr. Neal) of 

it. 

15.  OPS investigated the complaint.  OPS was unable to 

question Mr. Orr because he had retired from the City.  

Following an investigation, OPS determined that the allegations 

were unfounded and without merit. 

16.  During his work as a maintenance worker and his part-

time work as a Park Ranger, complaints regarding Mr. Duverglas’ 

personal hygiene occurred in both positions.  Complaints were 

made regarding his clothing and body having the odor of urine 

and his trousers being wet in the front, and regarding the odor 

of urine being left in vehicles and lingering in the Park’s 

office.  Mr. Duverglas was counseled on several occasions 

regarding these issues and notified that, if the problems 

continued, stronger action, than counseling, would be taken to 

address the problems. 

 7



17.  When Mr. Duverglas was a part-time Park Ranger, only 

one Park Ranger, Alan Brown, did not complain about 

Mr. Duverglas smelling of urine, wetting the front of his 

trousers, or leaving the smell of urine in vehicles. 

18.  The evidence demonstrates that Mr. Jones, 

Mr. Duverglas’ supervisor as a Park Ranger, was aware of 

Mr. Duverglas’ Haitian ancestry.  The evidence fails to 

demonstrate that any of Mr. Jones’ actions were taken because of 

Mr. Duverglas’ Haitian ancestry. 

19.  In March 2005, Mr. Duverglas, as a maintenance worker, 

was sent by the City for a Fit-For-Duty evaluation, which was a 

medical evaluation to determine his fitness for duty.  On 

March 22, 2005, a Fit-For-Duty evaluation was performed.  The 

report by the examining physician indicates, among other things, 

that a prior evaluation was performed on March 11, 2005, and 

Mr. Duverglas was found fit for duty; that another evaluation 

was requested due to continued concerns regarding his 

“cleanliness” at work; that a concern existed as to whether he 

was suffering from incontinence; that he refused to allow the 

physician to perform an abdominal and genital exam; that his 

personal physician wrote a note to the examining physician that 

Mr. Duverglas did not suffer from incontinence and was fit to 

return to work with no restrictions; and that, based upon the 

representations by Mr. Duverglas’ personal physician, the 
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examining physician had no choice but to find Mr. Duverglas fit 

for duty and clear him to return to work. 

20.  Mr. Duverglas denied, and continues to deny, that he 

suffered or suffers from a medical condition, i.e., 

incontinence. 

21.  The evidence is insufficient to demonstrate that 

Mr. Duverglas suffered or suffers from incontinence. 

22.  The evidence demonstrates that Mr. Duverglas was fit-

for-duty.  

23.  In April 2005, Teresa “Terry” Reynard, Assistant 

Director of Parks and Recreation, who had the responsibility for 

park maintenance, transferred Mr. Duverglas, in his position as 

a maintenance worker, from one location to another location, 

Carter Park.  Ms. Reynard’s intent was to accommodate what she 

perceived to be a problem with Mr. Duverglas’ personal hygiene 

by placing him in a park, Carter Park, in which several 

restrooms were available and accessible. 

24.  However, the complaints continued at both of 

Mr. Duverglas’ jobs with the City. 

25.  Mr. Duverglas’ supervisors counseled him on several 

occasions regarding his hygiene, the smell of urine, and 

trousers being wet in the front.  At one point, Mr. Duverglas, 

as a maintenance worker, was notified that he should bring a  
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change of clothing to work in an effort to eliminate the odor 

and smell of urine. 

26.  Mr. Duverglas admits that he may have urinated on 

himself maybe once or twice but nothing extraordinary. 

27.  Also, complaints were made regarding Mr. Duverglas’ 

excessive cell phone use, instead of working, inadequately 

performing his work, and unauthorized breaks. 

28.  Mr. Duverglas admits that he was disciplined for 

excessive cell use. 

29.  Mr. Duverglas admits that, on April 14, 2005, he was 

issued a reprimand for arriving at work late and that was his 

second violation in six months.  Further, he admits that he was 

notified that the continuation of such conduct could be a basis 

for termination. 

30.  On June 13, 2005, Mr. Duverglas was issued a letter of 

reprimand by Ms. Reynard for lack of productivity.  Furthermore, 

the letter of reprimand notified Mr. Duverglas that his failure 

to be productive in his work could result in further 

disciplinary action including termination. 

31.  On June 15, 2005, Mr. Duverglas was again issued a 

letter of reprimand by Ms. Reynard for lack of productivity.  

The letter of reprimand indicated, among other things, that 

Mr. Duverglas had violated the following General Employees’ Work 

Rules: 
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Minor Rule 3 – Failure to observe department 
work schedules (starting time, quitting 
time, and meal periods). 
 
Minor Rule 6: - Unsatisfactory work 
performance, inefficiency. 
 
Minor Rule 7 – Loafing or other abuse of 
time during assigned working hours. 
 
Major Rule 6 – Leaving City premises during 
working hours without permission of 
supervisor. 
 

Further, the letter of reprimand notified Mr. Duverglas that, 

among other things, “future occurrences of the same or similar 

nature will result in more severe disciplinary action up to and 

including dismissal.”  Mr. Duverglas refused to sign the letter 

of reprimand, but was provided a copy of it. 

32.  On June 22, 2005, Ms. Reynard issued Mr. Duverglas an 

“Informational Letter” regarding his personal hygiene, i.e., 

urinating in his trousers.  The Informational Letter provided, 

among other things, that, despite prior conversations and 

counseling, he (Mr. Duverglas) continued to have the personal 

hygiene problems; that his situation was a serious health risk; 

that, if he soiled his uniform in the future, he would be asked 

to change his uniform, and, if he failed to have a change of 

uniform with him at the time, he would be asked to leave work on 

his own time and not return until he had changed his uniform; 

and that, if his problem was caused by a medical condition and 

he wished to request an accommodation, he should do so. 
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33.  On June 24, 2005, Mr. Duverglas was issued a letter of 

counseling by Ms. Reynard regarding his (Mr. Duverglas’) 

personal hygiene.  The letter of counseling provided, among 

other things, that Mr. Duverglas had been spoken to and 

counseled in the past months regarding his personal hygiene, but 

that the problem had persisted; and that Ms. Reynard had 

observed, the day before, that Mr. Duverglas’ trousers were wet.  

Further, the letter of counseling reminded Mr. Duverglas what he 

was directed to do if he wet his trousers.  Moreover, the letter 

of counseling provided that future occurrences would result in 

disciplinary action, including dismissal. 

34.  Mr. Duverglas contends that he was not protected from 

a threat of violence made by a co-worker Wilmar “Slim” 

Alexander.  On June 29, 2005, Mr. Alexander threatened physical 

violence against Mr. Duverglas if Mr. Duverglas approached him 

(Mr. Alexander) in an aggressive manner.  On July 5, 2005, 

Ms. Reynard issued a letter of reprimand against Mr. Alexander 

for “an inappropriate remark to a coworker.”  Further, the 

letter of reprimand provided, among other things, that the 

behavior exemplified by Mr. Alexander would not be tolerated and 

that future occurrences would result in severe disciplinary 

action including dismissal. 

35.  The evidence failed to demonstrate that Mr. Alexander 

exhibited any further violent behavior towards Mr. Duverglas. 
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36.  The evidence failed to demonstrate that the letter of 

reprimand was not the appropriate punishment for Mr. Alexander’s 

behavior. 

37.  The evidence is insufficient to demonstrate that 

Mr. Alexander exhibited any violent behavior towards 

Mr. Duvergals prior to Mr. Alexander’s threat.  The evidence 

failed to demonstrate that the City failed to protect 

Mr. Duverglas from the threat made by Mr. Alexander. 

38.  On June 30, 2005, Mr. Duverglas was placed on 

administrative leave with pay pending the City’s investigation 

that he “may have violated City rules and regulations.” 

39.  On July 27, 2005, after notice, an informational 

meeting was held with Mr. Duverglas.  Based on the informational 

meeting, on July 28, 2005, Ms. Reynard issued a written 

recommendation to Phil Thornburg, Director of the City, 

regarding Mr. Duverglas.  The recommendation provided, among 

other things, that the persons in attendance at the 

informational meeting included Ms. Reynard, Mr. Duverglas, and a 

union representative; that the meeting was held to address 

several issues including Mr. Duverglas’ personal hygiene, 

complaints regarding the smell of urine, his performance 

deficiencies and general loafing, and the report of his 

urinating in public; and that Mr. Duverglas denied all 

allegations.  Further, the recommendation determined that 
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Mr. Duverglas’ denials, explanations and responses were 

“incredible and unworthy of belief” and that he had engaged in 

severe conduct.  Ms. Reynard recommended the termination of 

Mr. Duverglas. 

40.  Around May 2005, a self-employed painter, Samuel 

Mitchell, was performing contract work at Carter Park.  

Mr. Mitchell observed whom he recognized as Mr. Duverglas 

leaning against a concrete pole with his (Mr. Duverglas’) 

trousers around his (Mr. Duverglas’) knees, appearing to be 

urinating, but Mr. Mitchell did not observe a stream of liquid.  

The area in which Mr. Duverglas was observed was near a 

residential area, was an area that the general public frequents, 

and was an area used by school children.  Mr. Mitchell perceived 

the conduct to be inappropriate.  Mr. Mitchell spoke with 

Mr. Duverglas, and Mr. Duverglas vehemently denied that he was 

the person whom Mr. Mitchell observed.  Mr. Mitchell did not 

wish to report what he observed to the City, but wanted 

Mr. Duverglas to change the behavior that he (Mr. Mitchell) 

observed; however, because of the way Mr. Duverglas reacted to 

his (Mr. Mitchell’s) talking with him (Mr. Duverglas), 

Mr. Mitchell reported the incident to the City. 

41.  Mr. Mitchell testified at hearing, and his testimony 

is found to be credible.  Mr. Duverglas denied that he was the  
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person observed by Mr. Mitchell.  Mr. Mitchell’s testimony is 

found to be more credible than Mr. Duverglas’ testimony. 

42.  Also, at the time of the incident, another person, who 

was a non-employee of the City, reported the same observation to 

the City.  That person did not testify at hearing. 

43.  A finding is made that Mr. Duverglas was the person 

observed by Mr. Mitchell and was the person engaged in the 

conduct observed by Mr. Mitchell.  Further, even though 

Mr. Mitchell did not observe a stream of liquid, an inference is 

drawn and a finding is made that, based upon the prior conduct, 

actions, and behavior of Mr. Duverglas, regarding his personal 

hygiene and the wetting of the front of his trousers, 

Mr. Duverglas was urinating.  Moreover, a finding is made that 

the City was reasonable in making a determination that 

Mr. Duverglas was urinating. 

44.  The evidence demonstrated that Ms. Reynard was aware 

of Mr. Duverglas’ Haitian descent.  However, the evidence failed 

to demonstrate that any of her actions were motivated by 

Mr. Duverglas’ Haitian descent. 

45.  Mr. Thornburg had the final authority in disciplinary 

matters regarding the Parks and Recreation Department.  By 

letter dated August 5, 2005, Mr. Thornburg notified 

Mr. Duverglas that he (Mr. Duverglas) was being suspended, 

without pay, for 20 days, effectively immediately, and was being 
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dismissed from the City as an Apprentice Maintenance Worker, 

effective September 2, 2005.  The letter was hand-delivered to 

Mr. Duverglas.  The letter provided, among other things, that 

the action was being taken for continued deficiencies in 

performance and conduct, setting forth the deficiencies, which 

were: 

(1)  Despite prior counseling, a transfer to 
another facility with better access to 
bathroom facilities and other 
accommodations, you continued to disregard 
your personal hygiene and appearance as a 
representative of the City by urinating in 
your trousers in public and disregard of 
proper safety practices and precautions.  
Your failure to conform your behavior to 
civilized standards has been the subject of 
complaints by your co-workers over having to 
work in offensive, unsanitary and unhealthy 
conditions and cannot be tolerated. 
 
(2)  You continued to demonstrate 
deficiencies in performance of assigned 
duties by taking unauthorized breaks, 
excessive use of your personal cell phone in 
the field during working hours and general 
loafing. 
 
(3)  Employees of two City contractors have 
witnessed you urinating in a public place 
although restroom facilities were available.  
City Ordinance 16-75(a)(5) – Public 
Indecency. 
 

Additionally, the letter set forth General Employees’ Work Rules 

that Mr. Duverglas violated, which were: 

Major Rule 1 – Any act which might endanger 
the safety or lives of other [sic]. 
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Major Rule 2 – Refusal to perform work 
properly assigned by a supervisor. 
 
Major Rule 3 – Willful, deliberate or 
repeated violation of City safety rules, 
including instances where there is evidence 
of willful disregard of proper safety 
practices and precautions while operating 
City equipment. 
 
Major Rule 7 – Deliberately abusing [sic] 
destroying, damaging or defacing City 
property, tools, equipment or the property 
of others on City premises. 
 
Major Rule 21 – Neglect of duty. 
 
Major Rule 24 – Conduct, either while on or 
off duty, which tends to reflect discredit 
upon the City. 
 
Major Rule 25 – Employee harassment, abusive 
conduct towards an employee or a member of 
the general public. 
 
Major Rule 26 – Violation of City Charter, 
ordinances, or administrative rules and 
regulations, specifically City Ordinance 16-
75(a)(5) – Public Indecency. 
 

Furthermore, the letter provided that Mr. Duverglas had the 

opportunity to request a hearing, setting forth the procedure 

for such a request, and indicated the consequences for his 

failure to request a hearing. 

46.  City Ordinance 16-75(a)(5) – Public Indecency provides 

in pertinent part: 

(a)  Offense.  It shall be unlawful for any 
person to commit public indecency.  A person 
commits public indecency when he performs 
any of the following acts in a public place: 
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*   *   * 
 
(5)  Urinates . . . in other than a toilet 
or washroom . . . . 
 
(b)  Definitions.  “Public place,” for 
purposes of this section, means any place 
where the conduct may reasonably be expected 
to be viewed by others. 
 
(c)  Penalties.  Any person convicted of 
violating this section shall be deemed 
guilty of the offense of public decency and 
upon conviction shall be punished as 
provided in section 1-6 of this Code. 
 

47.  Section 1-6, titled “Penalty for violations,” provides 

in pertinent part: 

(a)  In this section “violation of this 
Code” means: 
(1)  Doing an act that is prohibited or made 
or declared unlawful or an offense by 
ordinance or by rule or regulation 
authorized by ordinance . . . . 
 

*   *   * 
 
(c)  Except as otherwise provided herein, a 
person convicted of a violation of this 
Code, shall be punished by a fine not to 
exceed five hundred dollars ($500.00) or by 
imprisonment for a term not to exceed sixty 
(60) days or by both such fine and 
imprisonment. . . . 
 
(d)  The imposition of a penalty does not 
prevent revocation or suspension of a 
license, permit or franchise or the 
imposition of civil fines, civil penalties 
or administrative sanctions. 
 

48.  Administrative sanctions could be imposed for a 

violation of City Ordinance Section 16-75(5). 
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49.  Mr. Duverglas admits that a violation of City 

Ordinance Section 16-75(5) is just cause for suspension and 

dismissal. 

50.  The ground of public indecency was sufficient, in and 

of itself, to dismiss Mr. Duverglas from employment.  The 

evidence demonstrated that he committed the act of public 

indecency as defined in City Ordinance Section 16-75(5). 

51.  The evidence fails to demonstrate that Mr. Thornburg 

had any knowledge of Mr. Duverglas’ Haitian ancestry prior to 

the disciplinary action. 

52.  Mr. Duverglas requested a hearing from the City.  The 

hearing was held on September 6, 2005. 

53.  By letter dated September 7, 2005, the City Manager, 

George Gretsas, notified Mr. Duverglas that, after a review of 

all the available and relevant information, including that 

presented at the hearing, the suspension and dismissal was 

upheld. 

54.  A grievance under the union contract was filed.  On 

November 21, 2005, the City’s Employee Relations Director issued 

a “Fourth Step Response Teamster Grievance,” providing, among 

other things, that a hearing was held on November 9, 2005, in 

accordance with the grievance, that no evidence was presented to 

cause the City to modify its decision, and that, therefore, the 

grievance was denied. 
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55.  An inference is drawn and a finding is made that an 

arbitration hearing was held on or about May 18, 2006, regarding 

Mr. Duverglas’ suspension and dismissal.  The evidence was 

insufficient to demonstrate the outcome of the arbitration 

proceedings, but an inference is drawn and a finding is made 

that the arbitration decision was not favorable to 

Mr. Duverglas. 

56.  On July 24, 2006, Mr. Duverglas filed a Charge of 

Discrimination with the Broward County Civil Rights Division and 

the EEOC against the City alleging that the City discriminated 

against him on the basis of national origin (Haitian) and 

retaliation in violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 

1992, as amended.  The Broward County Civil Rights Division 

waived investigation of the charge.  The matter was investigated 

by the FCHR.  On January 19, 2007, the FCHR issued a 

Determination of No Cause and a Notice of Determination of No 

Cause.  Mr. Duverglas timely filed a Petition for Relief with 

the FCHR against the City. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

57.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and the  

parties thereto, pursuant to Sections 760.11 and 120.569, 

Florida Statutes (2008), and Subsection 120.57(1), Florida 

Statutes (2008). 
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58.  Section 760.10, Florida Statutes, provides in 

pertinent part: 

 
(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 
for an employer: 
 
(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 
hire any individual, or otherwise to 
discriminate against any individual with 
respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 
or privileges of employment, because of such 
individual's race, color, religion, sex, 
national origin, age, handicap, or marital 
status. 
 
(b)  To limit, segregate, or classify 
employees or applicants for employment in 
any way which would deprive or tend to 
deprive any individual of employment 
opportunities, or adversely affect any 
individual's status as an employee, because 
of such individual's race, color, religion, 
sex, national origin, age, handicap, or 
marital status. 
 

*   *   * 
 
(7)  It is an unlawful employment practice 
for an employer, an employment agency, a 
joint labor-management committee, or a labor 
organization to discriminate against any 
person because that person has opposed any 
practice which is an unlawful employment 
practice under this section, or because that 
person has made a charge, testified, 
assisted, or participated in any manner in 
an investigation, proceeding, or hearing 
under this section. 
 

59.  A three-step burden and order of presentation of proof 

have been established for unlawful employment practices.  

McDonnell Douglas Corporation v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 
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1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 688 (1973); Aramburu v. The Boeing Company, 

112 F.3d 1398, 1403 (10th Cir. 1997).  The initial burden is 

upon Mr. Duverglas to establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  McDonnell Douglas, at 802; Aramburu, at 1403.  

Mr. Duverglas establishes a prima facie case of discrimination 

by showing:  (1) that he belongs to a protected group; (2) that 

he was subjected to an adverse employment action; and (3) that 

his employer treated similarly situated employees outside the 

protected group differently or more favorably.  McDonnell 

Douglas, supra; Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555 (11th Cir. 

1997); Aramburu, supra.  See Kendrick v. Penske Transportation 

Services, 220 F.3d 1220 (10th Cir. 2000) (similarly situated 

employees need not be outside the protected group). 

60.  Once Mr. Duverglas establishes a prima facie case, a 

presumption of unlawful discrimination is created.  McDonnell 

Douglas, at 802; Aramburu, at 1403.  The burden shifts then to 

the City to show a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its 

action.  McDonnell Douglas, at 802; Aramburu, at 1403.  If the 

City carries this burden, Mr. Duverglas must then prove by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the reason offered by the 

City is not its true reason, but only a pretext for 

discrimination.  McDonnell Douglas, at 804; Aramburu, at 1403. 

61.  However, at all times, the ultimate burden of 

persuasion that the City intentionally discriminated against him 
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remains with Mr. Duverglas.  Texas Department of  

Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 

L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981). 

62.  Applying the prima facie standards, the evidence 

demonstrates that Mr. Duverglas has satisfied the first two 

prongs but failed to satisfy the third prong of the test.  

Mr. Duverglas has demonstrated that he belongs to a protected 

class (national origin--Haitian) and that he was subjected to an 

adverse employment action (suspension and termination of 

employment).  However, he failed to demonstrate that the City 

treated similarly situated employees, whether inside or outside 

the protected group, differently or more favorably.  Anderson v. 

WBMG-42, 253 F.3d 561, 565 (11th Cir. 2001); McGuinness v. 

Lincoln Hall, 263 F.3d 49, 53, 54 (2d Cir. 2001); Kendrick, 

supra; Holifield, supra at 1562; Shumway v. United Parcel 

Service, Inc., 118 F.3d 60, 64 (2d Cir. 1997). 

63.  Assuming Mr. Duverglas had established a prima facie 

case, the City has demonstrated a legitimate, nondiscriminatory 

reason for its employment action of suspending and terminating 

him.  The City demonstrated that Mr. Duverglas had performance 

deficiencies; that he had continuous hygiene problems that he 

failed to successfully address and which the City continuously 

attempted to assist him in addressing; and that ultimately, for  
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the City, he had committed public indecency, which was a proper 

basis, in and of itself, for suspension and termination. 

64.  Further, Mr. Duverglas failed to demonstrate that the 

City's reason for terminating him was not the true reason, but a 

pretext for discrimination. 

65.  Mr. Duverglas also asserts that the City retaliated 

against him for filing a complaint with OPS against a co-worker, 

Mr. Orr, for making discriminatory remarks.  Mr. Duverglas has 

demonstrated that he made a complaint with OPS against Mr. Orr 

for making discriminatory remarks regarding Haitians.  

Mr. Duverglas is of Haitian descent.  Also, Mr. Duverglas 

demonstrated that he made a complaint with OPS against his 

supervisor, Mr. Neal, who was also Mr. Orr’s supervisor, for 

retaliation in that Mr. Neal retaliated against him 

(Mr. Duverglas) for making the complaint against Mr. Orr.  The 

evidence demonstrates that Mr. Neal had no knowledge of 

Mr. Orr’s alleged discriminatory comments and of Mr. Duverglas’ 

complaint against Mr. Orr until being informed of the comments 

and complaint by Mr. Duverglas.  Furthermore, the evidence 

demonstrates that Mr. Duverglas was having performance and 

hygiene problems prior to his complaints with OPS.  

Consequently, the evidence fails to demonstrate retaliation.   
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RECOMMENDATION

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing the discrimination complaint of 

Donald Duverglas against the City of Fort Lauderdale. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 25th day of November, 2008, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

                       
                      __________________________________ 

ERROL H. POWELL 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675   SUNCOM 278-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 25th day of November, 2008. 

 
 

ENDNOTES
 
1/  At hearing, Mr. Duverglas entered into evidence Petitioner’s 
Exhibit numbered 23, which was a contemplated disciplinary action 
memorandum dated August 2, 2005.  However, he failed to forward 
the exhibit to the Division of Administrative Hearings in order 
for the exhibit to be made a part of record.  Consequently, 
Petitioner’s Exhibit numbered 23 is not a part of the record. 
 
2/  The record of this matter shows three volumes of the 
Transcript being filed.  The first volume was filed on June 23, 
2008; the second volume was filed on June 30, 2008; and the third 
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volume was filed on July 10, 2008.  The second volume, filed 
June 30, 2008, is an incomplete Transcript of the first-part of 
the hearing held on December 11, 2007.  The third volume, filed 
July 10, 2008, is the complete Transcript of the first-part of 
the hearing and is, therefore, the official Transcript of the 
first-part of the hearing held on December 11, 2007. 
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Jonel Lemy, Esquire 
The Law Offices of Jonel Lemy, P.A. 
1061 West Oakland Park Boulevard, 
  Suite 106 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33311 
 
Eugene K. Pettis, Esquire 
Haliczer, Pettis, & Schwamm, P.A. 
One Financial Plaza 
100 Southeast Third Avenue, Seventh Floor 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33394 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
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Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this recommended order.  Any exceptions 
to this recommended order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the final order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
JOSEPH A. ZEMBA, JR., 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
PHANTOM FIREWORKS, 
 
 Respondent. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 08-4144 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
Pursuant to notice, on October 28, 2008, a final hearing 

was conducted in this case before Jeff B. Clark, the duly-

designated Administrative Law Judge of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings, in Viera, Florida.  

APPEARANCES

For Petitioner:  Joseph A. Zemba, Jr., pro se 
                      39 Burlington Avenue 

     Rockledge, Florida  32955 
 
For Respondent:  Anthony Donofrio, Esquire 
                 Qualified Representative 
     B.J. Alan Company 

                      555 Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard 
                      Youngstown, Ohio  44505 

  
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether Respondent discriminated against Petitioner on the 

basis of his age as stated in the Petition for Relief, in 

violation of Subsection 760.10(1), Florida Statutes (2007). 



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On August 13, 2008, Petitioner, Joseph A. Zemba, Jr., filed 

a Petition for Relief from an Unlawful Employment Practice with 

the Florida Commission on Human Relations (FCHR), alleging that 

Respondent, Phantom Fireworks, B.J. Alan Company, discharged him 

from employment "based on age." 

On July 17, 2008, the FCHR had issued a Notice of 

Determination: No Cause, regarding his claim.  The Petition for 

Relief was timely filed with the FCHR.  On August 21, 2008, the 

FCHR referred the matter to the Division of Administrative 

Hearings for assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to 

conduct a hearing on the allegations of employment 

discrimination made by Petitioner.  On the same day, August 21, 

2008, an Initial Order was sent to both parties requesting 

mutually convenient dates for a final hearing.  Based on the 

response of the parties, a final hearing was scheduled on 

October 28, 2008, in Viera, Florida. 

On September 22, 2008, Anthony Donofrio, Esquire, a member 

of the State of Ohio Bar, sought qualification as a qualified 

representative and to be allowed to represent Respondent by 

telephone.  The request to appear by telephone was granted by 

Order dated October 9, 2008.  Mr. Donofrio was accepted as a 

qualified representative by Order dated September 24, 2008. 
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The hearing was held on October 28, 2008, as scheduled.  

Petitioner, Joseph A. Zemba, Jr., testified on his own behalf. 

Respondent presented four witnesses:  Joseph Mele, Kimberly 

Knapp-Mele, Kathy Daley, and Ira Schwartz.  The exhibits offered 

by both parties were not accepted into evidence, because the 

parties did not provide the other with copies as required by the 

Pre-hearing Order; both parties objected on this basis.  

No transcript of the hearing was ordered.  Both parties 

timely submitted Proposed Recommended Orders. 

All references are to Florida Statutes (2007), unless 

otherwise noted. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Based upon the testimony and evidence received at the 

hearing, the following facts were established by clear and 

convincing evidence: 

1.  Respondent, Phantom Fireworks, is a retailer and 

wholesaler of consumer fireworks and employs more than 15 

persons. 

2.  Petitioner, Joseph A. Zemba, Jr., was hired as an 

assistant manager at the Cocoa, Florida, location on March 21, 

2007.  At the time he was hired, he was 57 years old and the 

oldest of four applicants for the position.     

3.  On or about August 16, 2007, Petitioner was discharged 

from his employment with Phantom Fireworks by the Cocoa, 
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Florida, manager, Joseph Mele.  Mr. Mele advised Petitioner that 

he was discharged for violating company policy regarding the 

unauthorized use of alcohol on company property or while on the 

job.  

 4.  Petitioner testified that he believes the discharge for 

alcohol abuse was a "cover up" for the real reason that he was 

discharged.  Petitioner "believed" that he was discharged 

because of his age. 

 5.  Petitioner presented no direct or circumstantial 

evidence that his discharge was based on age.  He did not deny 

his use of alcohol while on company premises and on company 

time.   

6.  On July 1, 2007, after receiving customer complaints 

regarding the smell of alcohol on Petitioner's person, Mr. Mele 

counseled him about the smell of alcohol on his person and 

raised the issue of the impropriety of drinking alcohol during 

work hours.  Prior to the customers approaching Mr. Mele, two 

employees told him, independently and at different times, that 

they observed the odor of alcohol on Petitioner's person.  

Petitioner acknowledged having used alcohol during working hours 

and indicated it would not happen again. 

7.  On August 2, 2007, Mr. Mele again received complaints 

of Petitioner having the odor of alcohol on his breath.  Based 

on these complaints, Mr. Mele verbally counseled Petitioner a 
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second time regarding the use of alcohol while on company 

premises and during company time.  Petitioner again acknowledged 

he was drinking and stated that he "had a beer for lunch" and 

that it would not happen again.  

8.  Mr. Mele again verbally counseled Petitioner on 

August 6, 2007.  On August 3, 2007, Kathy Daley, a co-worker 

whose testimony confirmed the incident, told Mr. Mele that when 

she and Petitioner worked together on that day, Petitioner left 

the showroom to do some banking, a task that usually takes ten 

or 15 minutes.  Petitioner, however, was gone for over one hour 

before he returned.  When he returned, Kat Daley smelled a 

strong odor of alcohol on Petitioner's breath.  She reported 

this after Petitioner had left for the day. 

9.  Petitioner was next scheduled to work on August 6, 

2007, at which time Mr. Mele counseled him for a third time 

regarding complaints of the smell of alcohol on his person.  

When questioned about his whereabouts, Petitioner told Mr. Mele 

that he could not remember where he went. 

10. Mr. Mele contacted his regional manager, Ira Schwartz, 

on August 7, 2007, to discuss the alcohol issue regarding 

Petitioner.  Ira Schwartz advised Mr. Mele to contact Amy 

Witzeman, director of Human Resources for Phantom Fireworks.  

After considering the facts and consulting with the director of 
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Operations and General Counsel, a decision was made to terminate 

Petitioner based on his abuse of alcohol. 

11. Petitioner was terminated from the company, effective 

August 16, 2007. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
 

12. The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties to and the subject matter of these 

proceedings.  § 120.57(1), Fla. Stat. (2008). 

13. Subsection 760.10(1), Florida Statutes, in relevant 

part, makes it an unlawful employment practice for Respondent to 

discriminate against Petitioner because of Petitioner's age.  

Chapter 760, Florida Statutes, entitled the Florida Civil Rights 

Act, adopts the legal principles and judicial precedent set 

forth under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 

amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000, et seq.; King v. Auto, Truck, 

Indus. Parts and Supply, Inc., 21 F. Supp. 2d 1370 (N.D. Fla. 

1998); Carlson v. WPLG/TV-10, Post-Newsweek Stations of Florida, 

956 F. Supp. 994 (S.D. Fla. 1996). 

14. The United States Supreme Court has established an 

analytical framework within which courts should examine claims 

of discrimination, including claims of age discrimination.  In 

cases alleging discriminatory treatment, Petitioner has the 

initial burden of establishing, by a preponderance of the 

evidence, a prima facie case of discrimination.  St. Mary's 
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Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993); Combs v. Plantation 

Patterns, 106 F.3d 1519 (11th Cir. 1997). 

15. Petitioner can establish a prima facie case of 

discrimination in one of three ways:  (1) by producing direct 

evidence of discriminatory intent; (2) by circumstantial 

evidence under the McDonnell Douglas framework; or (3) by 

establishing statistical proof of a pattern of discriminatory 

conduct.  Carter v. City of Miami, 870 F.2d 578 (11th Cir. 

1989).  If Petitioner cannot establish all of the elements 

necessary to prove a prima facie case, Respondent is entitled to 

entry of judgment in its favor.  Earley v. Champion 

International Corp., 907 F.2d 1077 (11th Cir. 1990). 

16. To establish a prima facie case of discrimination, 

Petitioner must show:  that he is a member of a protected class; 

that he suffered an adverse employment action; that he received 

disparate treatment from other similarly situated individuals in 

a non-protected class; and that there is sufficient evidence of 

bias to infer a causal connection between his age and the 

disparate treatment.  Andrade v. Morse Operations, Inc., 946 

F.Supp. 979 (M.D. Fla. 1996). 

17. Petitioner made a prima facie showing that due to his 

age, he is a member of a protected class and that he suffered an 

adverse employment action--he was discharged.  However, 

Petitioner failed to make a prima facie showing that he received 
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dissimilar treatment from individuals in a non-protected class 

or that there was any bias against Petitioner.  Even if evidence 

of bias did exist, it was insufficient to infer a causal 

connection between Petitioner's age and the alleged disparate 

treatment. 

18. Petitioner's case is predicated on his statement that 

he believed he was fired because of his age and that his alleged 

alcohol abuse was a "cover-up."  This was affirmatively denied 

by his immediate supervisor and reports of Petitioner's use of 

alcohol confirm that Petitioner's consumption of alcohol during 

working hours was a recurring problem.  Other than his testimony 

regarding his "belief," Petitioner offered no other evidence, 

direct, circumstantial, or statistical of the alleged 

discrimination. 

19. If Petitioner had satisfied his burden of establishing 

a prima facie case of discrimination, an inference would have 

arisen that the adverse employment action was motivated by a 

discriminatory intent.  Texas Department of Community Affairs v. 

Burdine, 450 U.S. 248 (1981); McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green,  

411 U.S. 792 (1973).  The burden would have then shifted to 

Respondent to articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason 

for its action.  Id.

20. Respondent articulated a legitimate, non-

discriminatory reason for its action.  Respondent demonstrated 
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that Petitioner's abuse of alcohol was the reason for his 

discharge.  

21. Once Respondent successfully articulates a non-

discriminatory reason for its action, the burden shifts back to 

Petitioner to show that the proffered reason is a pretext for 

unlawful discrimination.  Petitioner must provide sufficient 

evidence to allow a reasonable fact-finder to conclude that the 

proffered reason is not the actual motivation for the adverse 

employment action.  Standard v. A.B.E.L. Services, Inc., 161 

F.3d 1318 (11th Cir. 1998). 

22. Petitioner may show that Respondent's articulated 

reason is a pretext by showing that the non-discriminatory 

reason should not be believed; or by showing that, in light of 

all the evidence, discriminatory reasons more likely motivated 

the decision than the proffered reason.  Id.  Petitioner did 

neither.  Petitioner failed to present any evidence showing that 

Respondent either should not be believed or that discriminatory 

reasons, rather than the proffered reason, more likely motivated 

the adverse employment action. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order finding that Respondent, Phantom Fireworks, 
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did not discriminate against Petitioner, Joseph A. Zemba, Jr., 

and dismissing the Petition for Relief. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 25th day of November, 2008, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

JEFF B. CLARK 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 25th day of November, 2008. 

 
 
COPIES FURNISHED: 
 
Denise Crawford, Agency Clerk 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Larry Kranert, General Counsel 
Florida Commission on Human Relations 
2009 Apalachee Parkway, Suite 100 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
 
Anthony Donofrio, Esquire 
B.J. Alan Company 
555 Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard 
Youngstown, Ohio  44505 
 
Joseph A. Zemba, Jr. 
39 Burlington Avenue 
Rockledge, Florida  32955 
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All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 
DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 
 
RICKY KRELL, 
 
     Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
DUSTIN'S BARBEQUE, 
 
 Respondent. 
                               

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 08-2668 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
Pursuant to notice, a formal hearing was held in this case 

in Viera, Florida, on August 13, 2008, before Jeff B. Clark, a 

duly-designated Administrative Law Judge of the Division of 

Administrative Hearings. 

APPEARANCES 

 For Petitioner:  Ricky Krell, pro se
      1889 Cedarwood Drive 

  Melbourne, Florida  32935 
 
 For Respondent:  Katherine Hurst Miller, Esquire 
      Kelly V. Parsons, Esquire 
      Cobb Cole 
      150 Magnolia Avenue 

  Post Office Box 2491 
  Daytona Beach, Florida  32115-2491 

 
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 
Whether Respondent, a place of public accommodation, 

violated Chapter 760 and Section 413.08, Florida Statutes 



(2006), by failing to accommodate Petitioner, an individual with 

a disability. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On May 27, 2008, Petitioner, Ricky Krell, filed a Petition 

for Relief from Public Accommodation Discriminatory Practice 

alleging that Respondent, Dustin's Barbeque, violated the 

Florida Civil Rights Act by "put[ting] a No Trespass Order on 

me, because I have a service dog." 

On May 23, 2008, Petitioner had been mailed a "Notice of 

Determination: No Cause" by the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations ("FCHR"), which indicated that "there is no reasonable 

cause to believe that a public accommodation violation has 

occurred." 

On June 3, 2008, FCHR forwarded the Petition for Relief to 

the Division of Administrative Hearings requesting assignment of 

an Administrative Law Judge to conduct proceedings required by 

law and to submit a recommended order.  On June 5, 2008, an 

Initial Order was sent to both parties.  Based on the parties' 

response to the Initial Order, the case was scheduled for final 

hearing on August 13, 2008, in Viera, Florida.  

 The final hearing took place as scheduled.  Petitioner 

presented two witnesses:  himself and his wife, Angela Krell.  

Respondent presented seven witnesses:  Toni Withey, Kimberly 

Burk, Rebecka Massanova, Gail Golden, Michael Overton, Gregory 
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Helwig, and Chris Tomlinson.  Respondent offered nine exhibits 

which were received into evidence and marked Respondent's 

Exhibits 1 through 9.  At the close of Petitioner's case, 

Respondent moved for a recommended order of dismissal.  Ruling 

on Respondent's motion was reserved until the publication of 

this Recommended Order.  Respondent's motion is granted as set 

forth herein.  

 The Transcript of the final hearing was filed on October 8, 

2008.  Both parties timely submitted Proposed Recommended 

Orders.   

 All references are to Florida Statutes (2006), unless 

otherwise indicated. 

FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on the oral and documentary evidence presented at the 

formal hearing and on the entire record of this proceeding, the 

following Findings of Fact are made: 

 1.  Petitioner, Ricky Krell, is physically disabled and 

entitled to the protection of the Florida Civil Rights Act. 

 2.  Respondent is the owner of Dustin's Barbeque, which is 

a structure for public accommodation.  

3.  On June 5, 2007, Petitioner, accompanied by his wife 

and his service dog, Zsa-Zsa, visited Respondent restaurant for 

the purpose of eating therein.  Petitioner and his wife were 

seated and ordered their meal without incident. 
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 4.  Zsa-Zsa was on a leash which was several feet in 

length, long enough to allow the dog to "sniff" other customers 

and food.  

 5.  Zsa-Zsa began "sniffing" contiguous customers and their 

food.  The lease was stretched across the aisle between tables.  

On one occasion, a waitress almost tripped over the leash. 

 6.  Respondent's employees, who were familiar with service 

dogs having been in the restaurant, opined that the dog did not 

conduct itself as a trained service dog.  

 7.  As a result of the dog's activities and concern for the 

health and safety of other customers and employees, Respondent's 

on-site manager requested that Petitioner control the dog.  

 8.  Petitioner was unwilling or unable to control the dog, 

and the dog's inappropriate conduct continued.  As a result, the 

manager asked Petitioner to take the dog outside.  Petitioner 

would have been able to complete his meal if he had been able to 

control the dog or he had opted to take the dog outside and 

return to his meal without the dog. 

9.  Petitioner refused the request to take the dog outside 

and became loud and used profanity.  Petitioner finished his 

meal.  The request that Petitioner remove the dog from the 

restaurant was reasonable under the existing circumstance and 

did not reflect a discriminatory act against Petitioner. 
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 10. The City of Melbourne police were called and when the 

officer arrived, she issued a trespass warning to Petitioner and 

his wife. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 11. The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceeding and of 

the parties thereto pursuant to Section 120.57(1), Florida 

Statutes (2008). 

12. Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations 

of his Petition for Relief by a preponderance of the evidence.  

Florida Department of Transportation v. J.W.C. Company, Inc., 

396 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). 

13. The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, as amended 

(Chapter 760, Florida Statutes), was patterned after Title VII 

of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and Federal case law 

interpreting Title VII is applicable to cases arising under the 

Florida Act.  Green v. Burger King Corp., 728 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1999); Laborers' Int'l Union of N. Am., Local 478 v. 

Burroughs, 522 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); School Board of 

Leon County v. Hargis, 400 So. 2d 103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). 

 14. Pertinent to the issue presented for determination are 

the following portions of the Florida Civil Rights Act, 

Subsection 760.08, Florida Statutes:  
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All persons shall be entitled to the full 
and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, 
facilities, privileges, advantages, and 
accommodations of any place of public 
accommodation, as defined in this chapter, 
without discrimination or segregation on the 
ground of race, color, national origin, sex, 
handicap, familial status, or religion  
 

15. The burden of proof and the order of production in 

this case was established by the United States Supreme Court in 

McDonnell Douglass Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 

36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973), as refined by the Court in Texas 

Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 

101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981), and in St. Mary's 

Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 113 S. Ct. 2742, 

125 L. Ed. 2d 407 (1993).  In these three cases, the Court 

developed a three-step allocation of the burden of production. 

16. Under the McDonnell Douglas model, the petitioner 

bears the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  Proof of a prima facie case under McDonnell 

Douglas raises a presumption that the respondent's decision was 

motivated by discrimination.  St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 

509 U.S. at 502, 506.  Demonstrating a prima facie case is not 

onerous; it requires only that Petitioner establish facts 

adequate to permit an inference of discrimination.  McDonnell, 

supra, at 802. 
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17. The purpose of the three-step allocation of the burden 

of production is to assist Petitioner in proving unlawful 

discrimination when proof of discriminatory intent or motivation 

is required.  Because the Court recognized that it is very 

difficult to prove discriminatory intent or motivation, the 

prima facie case of discrimination prescribed in McDonnell 

Douglas and Burdine requires only that Petitioner establish that 

he or she is a member of the protected class and has been denied 

the benefits available under the law.  See St. Mary's Honor 

Center v. Hicks, 113 S. Ct. at 2746-49; Barth v. Gelb, 2 F.3d 

1180, 1185-86 (D.C Cir. 1993).  In Barth v. Gelb, the Court 

concluded that in the context of discrimination claims involving 

reasonable accommodations for the handicapped, including 

reasonable modifications, the traditional allocation of the 

burden of production should be followed.  In so holding, the 

Court stated: 

These cases deal with objective claims that 
may be tested through the application of 
traditional burdens of proof . . .  [A] 
plaintiff must establish that (a) he is 
handicapped but, (b) with reasonable 
accommodation (which he must describe), he 
is (c) able to perform "the essential 
functions" of the position he holds or 
seeks. . .  As in the usual case, it would 
then be up to the employing agency to refute 
the evidence.  The burden, however, remains 
with the plaintiff to prove his case by a 
preponderance of the evidence. 

 
Id. at 1186. 
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18. Once the presumption of discriminatory intent is 

raised, Respondent is able to rebut it by introducing admissible 

evidence of a reason, which if believed by the trier of fact, 

supports a finding that discrimination was not the cause of the 

challenged action.  Grigsby v. Reynolds Metals Co., 821 F.2d 

590, 594 (11th Cir. 1987); and Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission v. Navy Federal Credit Union, 424 F.3d 397, 405 (4th 

Cir. 2005).  Respondent is required only to produce admissible 

evidence, which would allow the trier of fact rationally to 

conclude that the decision complained of had not been motivated 

by discriminatory animus.  Texas Department of Community Affairs 

v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 257 (1981).  "Respondent need not 

persuade the court that it was actually motivated by the 

proffered reasons . . .  It is sufficient if the defendant's 

evidence raises a genuine issue of fact as to whether it 

discriminated against the plaintiff."  Id. at 254.  This burden 

is characterized as "exceedingly light."  Perryman v. Johnson 

Products Co., Inc., 698 F.2d 1138, 1142 (11th Cir. 1983). 

19. Where Respondent meets this burden, Petitioner has the 

opportunity to demonstrate that Respondent's articulated reason 

for the adverse action is a mere pretext for discrimination.  

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, supra, at 804; Roberts v. 

Gadsden Memorial Hospital, 835 F.2d 793, 796 (11th Cir. 1988).  

This demonstration merges with Petitioner's ultimate burden of 
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showing that Respondent intentionally discriminated against 

Petitioner.  St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. at 502, 

511; Pignato v. American Trans Air, Inc., 14 F.3d 342, 347 

(7th Cir. 1994).  Put another way, once Respondent succeeds in 

carrying its intermediate burden of production, the ultimate 

issue in the case becomes whether Petitioner has proven that 

Respondent intentionally discriminated against him because of 

his disability.  Turnes v. AmSouth Bank, N.A., 36 F.3d 1057, 

1061 (11th Cir. 1994).  Once Respondent produces evidence of a 

legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the challenged action, 

any presumption of discrimination arising out of the prima facie 

case "drops from the case."  See Krieg v. Paul Revere Life Ins. 

Co., 718 F.2d 998, 1001 (11th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 

929 (1984); Navy Federal Credit Union, 424 F.3d at 405.  The 

ultimate burden remains upon Petitioner to prove that Respondent 

intentionally discriminated against him.  Burdine, supra, 

at 256.  Stated another way, "[t]he ultimate question in a 

disparate treatment case is not whether [Petitioner] established 

a prima facie case or demonstrated a pretext, but 'whether the 

defendant intentionally discriminated against the plaintiff.'"  

Pashoian v. GTE Directories, 208 F. Supp. 2d 1293 (M.D. Fla. 

2002). 

 20. The elements of the prima facie case of unlawful 

discrimination are set out in Access Now, Inc. v. South Florida 
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Stadium, 161 F. Supp. 2d 1357 (S.D. Fla. 2001), and other 

relevant case law.  Accordingly, Petitioner has the burden of 

proving the following:  1) that he is disabled; 2) that 

Respondent restaurant is a place of public accommodation; 

and 3) that he was denied full and equal treatment because of 

his disability.  If the foregoing is demonstrated, Respondent 

must then produce evidence refuting the prima facie presumption 

of discriminatory intent. 

21. There is no evidentiary issue raised by Respondent 

regarding the fact that Petitioner is disabled and protected by 

the Florida Civil Rights Act, nor that Respondent, a restaurant, 

is a public accommodation. 

22. Petitioner has failed to prove that he was the victim 

of discrimination based on his disability and, therefore, he has 

failed to carry the burden of demonstrating a prima facie case.   

23. Section 413.08, Florida Statutes, allows service dogs 

needed to assist a disabled person in a place of public 

accommodation.  Petitioner was seated with his service dog, 

Zsa-Zsa, ordered and was able to start eating his meal without 

limitation.  Respondent routinely allows service dogs on its 

premises.   

24. Subsection 413.08(3)(e), Florida Statutes, reads, in 

pertinent part, as follows:  "A public accommodation may exclude 

or remove any animal from the premises, including a service 
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animal, if the animal's behavior poses a direct threat to the 

health and safety of others." 

25. It was only when the dog became disruptive and posed a 

threat to the health and safety of others that Petitioner was 

asked to take the dog outside.  But for Petitioner's lack of 

control of his service dog, Petitioner would have had the full 

benefit of the restaurant. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions 

of Law, it is  

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing with prejudice the Petition for 

Relief for failure to establish an unlawful discriminatory act 

by Respondent. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 25th day of November, 2008, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

JEFF B. CLARK 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
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HOMEQ SERVICING CORP., 
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Case No. 08-2669 

  
RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 
 A duly-noticed final hearing was held in this case by 

Administrative Law Judge T. Kent Wetherell, II, on October 1, 

2008, in Starke, Florida. 

APPEARANCES 

 For Petitioner:  Yolanda Clark, pro se 
  Post Office Box 211 
  Lawtey, Florida 32058 

 
 For Respondent:  Celia C. Falzone, Esquire 
      Akerman Senterfitt 
      50 North Laura Street 
      Jacksonville, Florida  32202 
 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 The issue is whether Respondent discriminated against 

Petitioner in violation of the Fair Housing Act1/ in its 

servicing of her mortgage loan. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On or about January 11, 2008,2/ Petitioner filed a Housing 

Discrimination Complaint (Complaint) with the Florida Commission 



on Human Relations (FCHR) alleging that Respondent discriminated 

against her in its servicing of her mortgage loan.  On April 18, 

2008, FCHR issued a “no cause” determination based upon its 

investigation of the Complaint.  On May 21, 2008, Petitioner 

filed a Petition for Relief (Petition) with FCHR. 

On June 3, 2008, FCHR referred the Petition to the Division 

of Administrative Hearings (DOAH).  The referral was received by 

DOAH on June 5, 2008. 

On June 9, 2008, the undersigned issued an Order to Show 

Cause because it appeared from a review of the case file that 

the Petition was not timely filed with FCHR.  Petitioner filed a 

response to the Order to Show Cause on June 13, 2008. 

On June 18, 2008, the undersigned issued a Recommended 

Order of Dismissal concluding that Petition was not timely filed 

and recommending that it be dismissed by FCHR.  On July 29, 

2008, FCHR issued an Order Remanding Petition for Relief from a 

Discriminatory Housing Practice (FCHR Order No. 08-050).  The 

Remand Order rejected the conclusion that the Petition was 

untimely and “remanded” the case to DOAH for a hearing on the 

merits of the petition.  On August 1, 2008, the undersigned 

entered an Order Reopening File. 

The final hearing was scheduled for and held on October 1, 

2008.  At the hearing, Petitioner testified in her own behalf 

and Respondent presented the testimony of Jill Orrison.  
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Exhibits 1 through 4, 5A, 5B, and 6 through 13 were received 

into evidence, and official recognition was taken of the Summary 

Final Judgment in Foreclosure entered on December 3, 2007, in 

Case No. 04-2006-CA-511 (8th Jud. Cir.). 

The Transcript of the final hearing was filed with DOAH on 

November 4, 2008.  The parties were given 10 days from that date 

to file proposed recommended orders (PROs).  Respondent filed a 

PRO on November 18, 2008.  Petitioner did not file a PRO.  Due 

consideration has been given to Respondent’s PRO. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Petitioner is a black female and a Christian. 

 2.  Respondent is a mortgage servicing company.  It 

collects mortgage payments on behalf of the loan holder and 

distributes escrow funds for insurance and taxes.   

3.  Respondent does not offer financing or make loans, but 

it provides assistance to borrowers through loan modifications, 

repayment plans, and forbearance agreements for existing loans 

(i.e., loans made by other companies), subject to guidelines 

established by the loan holder. 

 4.  In December 2005, Petitioner applied for and received a 

$63,200 loan from New Century Mortgage Corporation (New Century) 

to purchase a home in Starke.  The loan was secured by a 

mortgage on the home.  The mortgage holder was New Century, not 

Respondent. 

 3



 5.  In January 2006, New Century assigned the loan and 

mortgage to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company (Deutsche 

Bank).  

 6.  Petitioner was required to make monthly payments on the 

loan in the amount of $609.05.  The payments were due on the 

first of each month.  A late fee was charged if the payment was 

not received by the fifteenth of each month. 

 7.  Respondent began servicing Petitioner’s loan for 

Deutsche Bank on May 1, 2006. 

 8.  Petitioner did not make the payments due in May and 

June 2006, which caused her to be in default on her mortgage 

loan. 

9.  Respondent could have initiated foreclosure proceedings 

on behalf of Deutsche Bank at this point, but it did not do so.  

Instead, Respondent entered into a “repayment plan” with 

Petitioner in order to give her an opportunity to get her loan 

current. 

10.  The plan, dated July 24, 2006, required Petitioner to 

pay $558.00 on July 31, 2006, and then to pay $2,133.59 on 

August 31, 2006. 

11.  Petitioner paid $558.00 on July 31, 2006, but she did 

not make the August payment required by the plan. 

12.  Respondent could have initiated foreclosure 

proceedings on behalf of Deutsche Bank at this point, but again 
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it did not do so.  Instead, Respondent agreed to Petitioner’s 

request to modify the repayment plan to give her another 

opportunity to get her loan current. 

13.  The modified plan, dated September 5, 2006, required 

Petitioner to make a payment of $668.72 on September 6, 2006, 

and then to make bi-weekly payments of $729.74, starting on 

September 20, 2006, and ending on November 29, 2006. 

 14.  Petitioner did not make any of the payments required 

by the modified repayment plan. 

 15.  Petitioner testified that she made a payment of 

$350.00 on September 16, 2006, and another payment of $350.00 on 

September 25, 2006.  Petitioner presented MoneyGram receipts for 

those amounts to corroborate this testimony. 

 16.  The two $350.00 MoneyGram payments were not sufficient 

to meet Petitioner’s obligations under the modified repayment 

plan. 

17.  Petitioner acknowledged in her testimony at the final 

hearing that the two $350.00 payments would not get her loan 

current, but she testified that she was told by one of 

Respondent’s customer service representatives that the payments 

would be enough to keep the home out of foreclosure.  The notes 

in the Respondent’s communication history log for September 25, 

2006, corroborate this testimony. 
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18.  Respondent did not receive either of the $350.00 

MoneyGram payments.  One of the MoneyGram receipts show the 

payment going to “Home Servicing LLC” in Baton Rouge.  The payee 

identified on the other receipt is illegible. 

19.  Respondent’s office is in Sacramento, California.  It 

does not have an office in Baton Rouge. 

 20.  On September 27, 2006, Respondent referred 

Petitioner’s loan to outside attorneys to initiate foreclosure 

proceedings on behalf of Deutsch Bank as a result of 

Petitioner’s failure to comply with the modified repayment plan.   

21.  A foreclosure complaint was served on Petitioner in 

October 2006.  The plaintiff in the foreclosure action was 

Deutsch Bank, not Respondent. 

 22.  Respondent continued to work with Petitioner even 

though foreclosure proceedings had been initiated. 

 23.  On October 30, 2006, Respondent sent Petitioner a 

Default Forebearance Agreement.  Petitioner signed the agreement 

on November 13, 2006. 

24.  The agreement required Petitioner to make an initial 

payment of $2,026 on November 15, 2006, and then to make monthly 

payments of $891.04 on the fifteenth of each month through 

October 2008.  The agreement stated that the foreclosure 

proceeding would be held in abeyance so long as Petitioner made 

the required payments, but also stated that Deutsch Bank could 
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proceed with the foreclosure if Petitioner failed to make any of 

the payments when due under the agreement. 

25.  Petitioner did not make the initial $2,026 payment 

required by the Default Forebearance Agreement. 

26.  On November 20, 2006, Petitioner sent Respondent a 

payment of $1,500 through Western Union. 

27.  In a letter dated November 29, 2006, Respondent 

advised Petitioner that it was returning the $1,500 to her 

because “the account is in foreclosure and the check amount is 

not sufficient to reinstate the loan.” 

28.  Petitioner called Respondent numerous times between 

November 30, 2006, and December 14, 2006, in an effort to work 

out another payment plan.   

29.  Petitioner testified that on November 30, 2006, she 

was told by a customer service representative named Drew that 

she would be sent another modified payment plan.  This testimony 

is corroborated, at least in part, by the notes in Respondent’s 

communication history log for November 30, 2006, which indicates 

that Petitioner and a customer service representative discussed 

a modified payment plan with a $1,500 initial payment due on 

November 30, 2006, and monthly payments of $1,058 from December 

30, 2006 through May 30, 2008. 

30.  However, subsequent notes in the communication history 

log indicate that a modified plan was ultimately denied by 
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Respondent and/or Deutsch Bank because $1,500 was not enough of 

a down payment and because it did not appear that Petitioner had 

the financial ability to make the $1,058 monthly payments.  The 

communication history log reflects that this information was 

communicated to Petitioner, and she acknowledged as much in her 

testimony at the final hearing. 

31.  Petitioner did not present any credible evidence 

concerning her financial situation on and after November 30, 

2006, to demonstrate that she was indeed able to make monthly 

payments of $1,058. 

32.  Petitioner continued to call Respondent periodically 

in 2007 and 2008 to complain about how her loan was handled. 

33.  Petitioner testified that during one of her 

conversations with a customer service representative named 

Laura, she mentioned putting her trust in God.  According to 

Petitioner, the customer service representative told her not to 

mention God and also told her that Petitioner should get God to 

help her make her mortgage payments.  Petitioner testified that 

she was offended by these comments because she is a devout 

Christian. 

34.  Petitioner testified that this conversation occurred 

after Respondent had returned her $1,500 payment.  She did not 

identify the precise date on which the conversation occurred, 

but testified that it was likely in December 2006. 
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35.  A Summary Final Judgment was entered in favor of 

Deutsch Bank in the foreclosure proceeding on December 3, 2007, 

but according to Petitioner, the foreclosure sale has not yet 

been held. 

36.  Jill Orrison, a consumer advocacy analyst for 

Respondent, credibly testified that Petitioner was treated no 

differently than any other person in her situation with respect 

to Respondent’s servicing of her mortgage loan. 

37.  There is no credible evidence that Respondent 

discriminated against Petitioner in any way based upon her race 

or her religious affiliation. 

38.  The evidence fails to support Petitioner’s claim that 

Respondent mishandled her loan or that it failed to do what it 

agreed to do.  Rather, the more persuasive evidence establishes 

that Respondent worked with Petitioner for many months to help 

her avoid foreclosure and that it was Petitioner who failed to 

do what she agreed to do by not complying with any of the 

repayment plans that she was given by Respondent. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 39.  DOAH has jurisdiction over the parties to and subject 

matter of this proceeding pursuant to Sections 120.569, 

120.57(1), and 760.35(3), Florida Statutes (2008).3/

 40.  FCHR is the state agency responsible for administering 

and enforcing the Fair Housing Act.  See § 760.30(1), Fla. Stat. 
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41.  Respondent argues in its PRO that the Complaint is 

“time barred” because it was filed with FCHR more than one year 

after the alleged discriminatory housing practices.  See 

Respondent’s PRO, at ¶¶ 48-50 (citing 42 U.S.C. Section 

3610(a)(1)(A)(i)). 

42.  Consistent with the statute of limitations in the 

federal Fair Housing Act cited by Respondent, Florida 

Administrative Code Rule 60Y-7.001(2) provides that “[a] 

complaint may be filed at any time within one year of the 

occurrence of the alleged discriminatory housing practice.”   

43.  The only conceivable discriminatory housing practices 

are Respondent’s failure to offer Petitioner a fourth repayment 

plan in November 2006 and the statements about God allegedly 

made to Petitioner by one of Respondent’s customer service 

representatives in December 2006.  These events occurred more 

than a year before the Complaint was filed with FCHR in 

January 2008, and as a result, Respondent is correct that the 

Complaint was time-barred. 

44.  Nevertheless, the merits of the Complaint are 

addressed below in the event that FCHR or an appellate court 

disagrees that the Complaint was time-barred. 

 45.  Section 760.25, Florida Statutes, which is part of the 

Fair Housing Act, provides: 
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  (1)  It is unlawful for any bank, building 
and loan association, insurance company, or 
other corporation, association, firm, or 
enterprise the business of which consists in 
whole or in part of the making of commercial 
real estate loans to deny a loan or other 
financial assistance to a person applying 
for the loan for the purpose of purchasing, 
constructing, improving, repairing, or 
maintaining a dwelling, or to discriminate 
against him or her in the fixing of the 
amount, interest rate, duration, or other 
term or condition of such loan or other 
financial assistance, because of the race, 
color, national origin, sex, handicap, 
familial status, or religion of such person 
or of any person associated with him or her 
in connection with such loan or other 
financial assistance or the purposes of such 
loan or other financial assistance, or 
because of the race, color, national origin, 
sex, handicap, familial status, or religion 
of the present or prospective owners, 
lessees, tenants, or occupants of the 
dwelling or dwellings in relation to which 
such loan or other financial assistance is 
to be made or given.  

  (2)(a)  It is unlawful for any person or 
entity whose business includes engaging in 
residential real estate transactions to 
discriminate against any person in making 
available such a transaction, or in the 
terms or conditions of such a transaction, 
because of race, color, national origin, 
sex, handicap, familial status, or religion.  

  (b)  As used in this subsection, the term 
"residential real estate transaction" means 
any of the following:  

  1.  The making or purchasing of loans or 
providing other financial assistance:  

  a.  For purchasing, constructing, 
improving, repairing, or maintaining a 
dwelling; or  
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  b.  Secured by residential real estate.  

  2.  The selling, brokering, or appraising 
of residential real property.  

 46.  Petitioner has the burden to prove that Respondent 

violated this statute and thereby committed a discriminatory 

housing practice.  See § 760.34(5), Fla. Stat. 

 47.  To establish a prima facie case of housing 

discrimination, Petitioner must prove that (1) she was a member 

of a protected class; (2) she attempted to engage in a real 

estate transaction with Respondent and met all relevant 

qualifications for doing so; (3) Respondent failed to engage in 

the transaction despite Petitioner’s qualifications; and 

(4) Respondent continued to engage in that type of transaction 

with similarly-qualified persons outside of Petitioner’s 

protected class.  See Alcegueire v EMC Mortgage Corp., Case No. 

03-2153, 2003 Fla. Div. Adm. Hear. LEXIS 1086, at ¶ 16 (DOAH 

Dec. 17, 2003) (quoting Hickson v. Home Federal of Atlanta, 

805 F. Supp. 1567, 1571-72 (N.D. Ga. 1992)), adopted, Order No. 

04-001 (FCHR Feb. 26, 2004). Accord Secretary, Housing and Urban 

Development ex. Rel. Herron v. Blackwell, 908 F.2d 864, 870 

(11th Cir. 1990) (applying the burden-shifting analysis from 

McDonnell Douglas Corporation v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), in 

a housing discrimination case under the federal Fair Housing 

Act). 
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 48.  Petitioner failed to establish a prima facie case. 

 49.  First, the servicing of a mortgage loan is not the 

type of transaction covered by Section 760.25, Florida Statutes.  

See Alcegueire, supra, at ¶ 17. 

50.  Second, even if it was determined that Respondent was 

subject to the provisions of Section 760.25, Florida Statutes, 

in connection with its servicing of Petitioner’s mortgage loan, 

the evidence fails to establish that Petitioner was financially 

qualified for a fourth modified repayment plan that she was not 

offered in November 2006.  The evidence also fails to establish 

that Respondent offered such plans to similarly-(un)qualified 

persons outside of Petitioner’s protected class.  Moreover, the 

comments about God that offended Petitioner occurred after she 

had been denied the fourth modified repayment plan and are 

insufficient in and of themselves to establish a discrimination 

claim. 

51.  Third, even if it were somehow determined that 

Petitioner established a prima facie case, the more persuasive 

evidence establishes that Respondent had legitimate, non-

discriminatory reasons for not offering Petitioner a fourth 

repayment plan due to her failure to comply with the previously 

agreed upon plans and her lack of financial wherewithal to make 

the payments necessary to get her loan current.  Petitioner 
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failed to prove that these reasons were merely a “pretext” for 

unlawful discrimination. 

52.  Finally, or alternatively, the Petition should be 

dismissed as untimely for the reasons set forth in the 

Recommended Order of Dismissal entered on June 18, 2008.  FCHR’s 

interpretation of the word “service” in Florida Administrative 

Code Rule 60Y-8.001(1)4/ to mean “received” (see Remand Order, at 

2) is illogical, contrary to the word’s ordinary meaning in the 

legal context (see Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.080(b)(“Service by mail 

shall be complete upon mailing.”)), and contrary to the Notice 

of Determination sent to Petitioner in this case.  Moreover, 

such an interpretation is unnecessary to harmonize the rule with 

Section 760.35(3)(a)2., Florida Statutes, because as pointed out 

in Endnote 2 of the Recommended Order of Dismissal, that statute 

is not implicated where, as here, FCHR has issued a “no cause” 

determination. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based upon the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions 

of Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that FCHR issue a final order dismissing the 

Petition for Relief with prejudice. 
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    DONE AND ENTERED this 25th day of November, 2008, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

  S 

T. KENT WETHERELL, II 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 25th day of November, 2008. 

 

ENDNOTES
 
1/  Sections 760.20 through 760.37, Florida Statutes.  Unless 
otherwise indicated, all references to the Fair Housing Act are 
these statutes, not the federal law of the same name. 
 
2/  This is the date stamped by FCHR on the Housing 
Discrimination Complaint contained in the case file.  However, 
the complaint also includes a typewritten date of December 12, 
2007, and a handwritten date next to Petitioner’s signature of 
January 25, 2008; and the Determination contained in the case 
file states that the complaint was filed with the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development on January 15, 2008. 
 
3/  All statutory references are to the 2008 version of the 
Florida Statutes. 
 
4/  Similar language to this rule is also contained in Florida 
Administrative Code Rule 60Y-7.004(9). 
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